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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION 
 
CAMPAIGN LEGAL CENTER 
ROGER G. WIEAND 
1101 14th Street NW, Suite 400 
Washington, DC 20005 
 

  v.  MUR No. ________ 
 
CONSERVATIVES NETWORK 
14425 Falcon Head Blvd. 
Unit E100, Suite 225 
Austin, Texas 787381 

COMPLAINT  

1. Conservatives Network, a 501(c)(4) “dark money” nonprofit corporation, was formed in 

the midst of a hotly contested 2022 Senate primary election in Missouri and aired an 

electioneering ad supporting the candidacy of Missouri Attorney General Eric Schmitt on 

July 27, 2022—just one week before the primary. The ad, titled “Back the Blue,” cast 

Schmitt as an avid supporter of law enforcement and highlighted the fact that the 

Missouri Fraternal Order of Police had endorsed his candidacy, thus promoting a pro-law 

enforcement image that Schmitt had been trying to cultivate throughout his Senate 

campaign. Conservatives Network, which appointed a longtime Schmitt staffer as its 

treasurer, spent nearly all of its money—$609,780 out of $621,251 in 2022—on the 

“Back the Blue” ad, and then effectively shuttered after Schmitt won his party’s 

nomination.  

2. These facts strongly support the conclusion that Conservatives Network satisfied the 

legal requirements of a “political committee,” and therefore violated the Federal Election 

 
1  This is Conservatives Network’s principal office address, and the address it reported to the Federal Election 
Commission on an electioneering report. For notification purposes, Conservatives Network’s registered agent is 
Cogency Global Inc., 406 N. Main St., Suite B, Rolla, MO 65401-3154.  
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Campaign Act (“FECA”) by failing to register and report as a political committee—

depriving Missouri voters and the public generally of crucial transparency information 

about the sources of funding used to influence the 2022 election. To this day, it is unclear 

where the money used to pay for the “Back the Blue” ad came from. 

3. This complaint is filed pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(1) and is based on information 

and belief that Conservatives Network violated FECA, 52 U.S.C. § 30101, et seq. “If the 

Commission, upon receiving a complaint . . . has reason to believe that a person has 

committed, or is about to commit, a violation of [FECA] . . . [t]he Commission shall 

make an investigation of such alleged violation.”2  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

The 2022 Missouri GOP Primary Election 

4. When two-term Republican U.S. Senator Roy Blunt of Missouri announced that he would 

not run for reelection in the 2022 midterm elections, he triggered a highly competitive 

Republican primary, with 21 candidates vying for his open seat.3 Three candidates 

emerged as frontrunners: Missouri Attorney General Eric Schmitt, former Missouri 

Governor Eric Greitens, and U.S. Representative Vicky Hartzler.4  

 
2  52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(2) (emphasis added); see also 11 C.F.R. § 111.4(a). 
3  Jason Rosenbaum, Schmitt Wins Missouri GOP Senate Primary, Topping Hartzler, Scandal-Plagued Greitens, 
NPR (Aug. 2, 2022), https://www.npr.org/sections/2022-live-primary-election-race-
results/2022/08/02/1115272553/schmitt-greitens-hartzler-missouri-republican-senate-primary.  
4  Id.; Jason Rosenbaum, Trump Endorses ‘ERIC’ in Missouri Senate GOP Primary. Both Greitens and Schmitt 
Claim It’s Them, NPR (Aug. 1, 2022), https://www.kcur.org/politics-elections-and-government/2022-08-01/trump-
endorses-eric-in-missouri-senate-gop-primary-both-greitens-and-schmitt-claim-its-them; Tessa Weinberg, et al., 
Missouri AG Eric Schmitt Beats Hartzler, Greitens to Claim GOP Senate Nomination, Mo. Indep. (Aug. 2, 2022), 
https://missouriindependent.com/2022/08/02/missouri-ag-eric-schmitt-beats-hartzler-greitens-to-claim-gop-senate-
nomination/.  
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5. Schmitt’s opponents, including Greitens, repeatedly attacked Schmitt as a “RINO”5 and 

highlighted Schmitt’s moderate record to bolster claims that he was not a true 

conservative.6   

6. Schmitt countered these attacks on his conservative bona fides by pointing to his recent 

achievements as state attorney general, particularly making his support for law 

enforcement a central part of his campaign.7 He claimed that he used his role as the 

state’s top prosecutor to support police officers and clean up the streets, and he promised 

to push back against efforts to “defund the police.”8 On April 24, 2022, he received the 

endorsement of the Missouri Fraternal Order of Police, which news reporting stated was a 

“key” endorsement.9  

7. Less than three weeks later, on May 13, 2022, Conservatives Network registered with the 

Missouri Secretary of State as a 501(c)(4) nonprofit corporation.10 Conservatives 

Network reported a principal office address in Austin, Texas and listed Andrew Dziedzic 

as its treasurer.11  

 
5  Rosenbaum, Trump Endorses ‘ERIC,’ supra note 4. 
6  See Kacen Bayless, Eric Scmitt’s Lawsuits Made Headlines. He’s Now the Republican Nominee for U.S. Senate, 
KS City Star (Aug. 2, 2022), https://www.kansascity.com/news/politics-government/article263822938.html; Jason 
Rosenbaum, Eric Scmitt Wins Contentious Missouri GOP Senate Primary, NPR (Aug. 2, 2022), 
https://www.stlpr.org/government-politics-issues/2022-08-02/eric-schmitt-wins-contentious-missouri-gop-senate-
primary.  
7  See @Eric_Schmitt, X (Apr. 24, 2022), https://x.com/Eric_Schmitt/status/1518392846885298182?s=20.   
8  Id. 
9  Id.; Missouri Police Back Schmitt for Senate, Mo. Times (Apr. 22, 2022), https://themissouritimes.com/missouri-
police-back-schmitt-for-senate/.  
10  Nonprofit Corporation Details: Conservatives Network, Mo. Sec’y of State, 
https://bsd.sos.mo.gov/BusinessEntity/BusinessEntityDetail.aspx?ID=4532332&page=beSearch (last visited Dec. 3, 
2025); Conservatives Network, Articles of Incorporation of a Nonprofit Corporation (May 13, 2022), available at 
https://bsd.sos.mo.gov/Common/CorrespondenceItemViewHandler.ashx?IsTIFF=true&filedDocumentid=13040743
8&version=2.  
11 2023 Annual Registration Report, Conservatives Network (July 14, 2023), available at 
https://bsd.sos.mo.gov/Common/CorrespondenceItemViewHandler.ashx?IsTIFF=true&filedDocumentid=13358324
0&version=2.  
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8. Dziedzic worked for Schmitt in the state treasurer’s office, serving initially as a policy 

coordinator and then as chief of staff beginning in September 2017.12 Dziedzic then 

worked for Schmitt in the Missouri Attorney General’s Office from 2018 to 2019, and 

again—following a break for law school—returned to Schmitt’s staff as legislative 

director of the U.S. Senate office in January 2023.13 

9. On July 29, 2022, Conservatives Network filed a 24-hour report disclosing an 

electioneering communication—which FECA defines as a broadcast, cable, or satellite 

communication run within 30 days of a primary election, or 60 days of a general election, 

that refers to a clearly identified federal candidate and is targeted to the candidate’s 

electorate—in support of Schmitt titled “Back the Blue.”14 Conservatives Network’s 

Federal Election Commission (“FEC” or “Commission”) disclosure stated that it spent 

$609,780 on the television advertisement, which began airing on July 27, 202215—

exactly one week before the Missouri Republican primary.16 

10. On July 27, 2022—the same day that Conservatives Network began running “Back the 

Blue”—Schmitt embarked on his “Fight Tyranny. Crush Socialism. Save America” 

campaign tour to deliver his final campaign message across the state.17 

 
12  Press Release, Mo. Times (Sept.17, 2017), https://themissouritimes.com/treasurer-schmitt-announces-chief-staff-
transition/.  
13  Drew Dziedzic, LegiStorm, https://www.legistorm.com/person/bio/453873/Andrew_C_Dziedzic.html (last visited 
Dec. 15, 2025); Joe Holleman, Aide to Missouri’s Eric Schmitt Lands Job as White House Special Assistant, St. 
Louis Post Dispatch (Feb. 18, 2025), https://www.stltoday.com/news/local/column/joe-holleman/article_a74f7130-
edec-11ef-815e-9f677d2cceb8.html.  
14  Conservatives Network, FEC Form 9 (24 Hour Notice of Disbursements/Obligations for Electioneering 
Communications) (July 29, 2022), 
https://docquery.fec.gov/pdf/704/202207299525081704/202207299525081704.pdf; see also 52 U.S.C. 
§ 30104(f)(3)(A); 11 C.F.R. § 100.29. 
15  Conservatives Network, FEC Form 9, supra note 14. 
16  See Weinberg, et al., supra note 4.  
17 WayBack Machine - America First U.S. Senate Candidate Eric Schmitt Announces the Fight Tyranny. Crush 
Socialism. Save America. Campaign Tour, Schmitt for Senate (July 26, 2022), 
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11. On August 2, 2022, Schmitt won the Republican primary.18 He went on to win the 

November general election for U.S. Senate.19 

Conservatives Network’s Activity 

12. Conservatives Network’s 30-second “Back the Blue” television ad, which began running 

on July 27, 2022, contained the following audio and visuals: 

Voiceover Visual On-Screen Text 
Law enforcement is under 
attack. 

Police officers carrying 
shields. 

 

Some want to defund our 
police. 

Hooded protestors 
throwing smoke bombs. 
April 25, 2020, news 
footage of Representative 
Cori Bush with the 
headline “FLASHBACK: 
REP BUSH CALLS FOR 
‘DEFUNDING’ POLICE.” 

 

No matter what happens, 
Attorney General Eric 
Schmitt always backs law 
enforcement. 

B-roll of a town’s skyline. 
Schmitt talking with police 
officers and shaking an 
officer’s hand. 

Schmitt “has shown by 
words, actions, he . . . 
stands with law 
enforcement” – Jay 
Schroeder, Missouri FOP 
vice president 

And law enforcement backs 
the policies of the Attorney 
General’s Office under Eric 
Schmitt. 

Schmitt shaking peoples’ 
hand while standing in 
front of a banner for the St. 
Louis Police Officers 
Association. 

 

Missouri police officers say 
they can count on Eric 
Schmitt. 

Schmitt standing with 
police officers. 

“Missouri Police Officers 
know we can count on Eric 
Schmitt” – Rick Inglima, 
president, Missouri FOP 

Call Attorney General Eric 
Schmitt. Tell him to keep 
backing the blue and 
protecting you. 

Schmitt standing in a 
courtroom. Schmitt 
walking with police 
officers. 

CALL (573) 751-3321 
TELL ATTORNEY 
GENERAL ERIC 
SCHMITT TO KEEP 
BACKING THE BLUE 

 
https://web.archive.org/web/20220922085541/https://schmittforsenate.com/2022/07/26/america-first-u-s-senate-
candidate-eric-schmitt-announces-the-fight-tyranny-crush-socialism-save-america-campaign-tour/.  
18  Weinberg, et al., supra note 4. 
19  Jim Salter, Schmitt Defeats Busch Beer Heir in Missouri U.S. Senate Race, AP (Nov. 9, 2022), 
https://apnews.com/article/missouri-senate-race-2022-midterm-elections-91f950681a72abe1ea6bc20f45bf42ec.  
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Conservatives Network is 
responsible for the content 
of this advertising.  

Schmitt posing with police 
officers. 

CALL (573) 751-3321 
TELL ATTORNEY 
GENERAL ERIC 
SCHMITT TO KEEP 
BACKING THE BLUE20 

 
13. The video footage used in the ad, showing Schmitt in front of a St. Louis Police Officers 

Association banner, came from the press conference in which the Missouri Fraternal 

Order of Police endorsed him.21 The ad also included quotes from both the president and 

vice president of the Missouri Fraternal Order of Police (“FOP”) regarding the 

endorsement.22  

14. Outside of running this electioneering communication, Conservatives Network engaged 

in virtually no other activity. According to its 2022 IRS Form 990, the organization spent 

$600,000 on “issue advocacy” and $9,780 on “advertising and promotion.”23 It described 

its advocacy as “a media campaign to support law enforcement in Missouri.”24 These two 

amounts combined equal $609,780, which is the exact amount Conservatives Network 

reported to the FEC as an electioneering communication.25  

15. The only other expenses Conservatives Network reported on its 2022 Form 990 were 

$7,337 for legal expenses, $3,638 for other services, $310 in bank fees, and $186 in 

subscriptions.26 Accordingly, it spent $609,708 out of $621,251 on an electioneering 

communication, amounting to 98% of its total reported expenditures for 2022.  

 
20  A “paid for by” disclaimer also appears on the last frame. See Advertisement for Eric Schmitt for Senate 2022, 
YouTube, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Luq8vuVc1dg (posted Jan. 7, 2026).  
21  See @Eric_Schmitt, supra note 7. 
22  See Advertisement for Eric Schmitt for Senate 2022, supra note 20; see also Missouri Police Back Schmitt for 
Senate, supra note 9. 
23  Exh. 1 (Conservatives Network, 2022 Form 990) at 10. 
24  Id. at 1.  
25  See Conservatives Network, FEC Form 9, supra note 14. 
26  Exh. 1 at 10. 
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16. In 2023, according to its Form 990, Conservatives Network spent $26,641 on 

subscriptions and “other services” under the heading “management and general 

expenses.”27 

17. In 2024—the last year for which there is a Form 990 available—Conservatives Network 

spent just $1,229 between “professional fees and other payments to independent 

contractors” and subscriptions.28 It ended the year with $879 on hand.29 In May 2025, it 

filed “articles of dissolution” with the Missouri Secretary of State’s Office.30 

18. Accordingly, over Conservatives Network’s lifetime, it spent $609,708 out of $649,121 

on electioneering, which represents 94% of its total lifetime spending.  

SUMMARY OF THE LAW 

19. FECA defines the term “political committee” to mean “any committee, club, association, 

or other group of persons which receives contributions aggregating in excess of $1,000 

during a calendar year or which makes expenditures aggregating in excess of $1,000 

during a calendar year.”31  

20. In Buckley v. Valeo, the Supreme Court construed the term “political committee” to “only 

encompass organizations that are under the control of a candidate or the major purpose of 

which is the nomination or election of a candidate.”32 Later, in FEC v. Massachusetts 

Citizens for Life, the Court again invoked the “major purpose” test and noted, in the 

 
27  Exh. 2 (Conservatives Network, 2023 Form 990) at 10. 
28  Exh. 3 (Conservatives Network, 2024 Form 990) at 1 & “Additional Data.” 
29  Id. at 2. 
30  Conservatives Network, Articles of Dissolution by Voluntary Action for a Nonprofit Corporation (May 7, 2025), 
available at 
https://bsd.sos.mo.gov/Common/CorrespondenceItemViewHandler.ashx?IsTIFF=true&filedDocumentid=13873763
3&version=4.  
31  52 U.S.C. § 30101(4)(A); see also 11 C.F.R. § 100.5(a). 
32  424 U.S. 1, 79 (1976). 
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context of analyzing the activities of a 501(c)(4) group, that if a group’s electoral 

activities “become so extensive that the organization’s major purpose may be regarded as 

campaign activity, the corporation would be classified as a political committee.”33 In that 

instance, the Court continued, the group would become “subject to the obligations and 

restrictions applicable to those groups whose primary objective is to influence political 

campaigns.”34 In McConnell v. FEC, the Supreme Court reiterated the “major purpose” 

test for political committee status as stated in Buckley.35 

21. Consequently, the FEC applies a two-prong test for “political committee” status, 

evaluating: (1) whether the entity has received “contributions” or made “expenditures” of 

more than $1,000 in a calendar year, and (2) whether its “major purpose” is influencing 

the “nomination or election of a candidate.”36 These prongs are known respectively as the 

“statutory test” and the “major purpose test.” 

22. Any entity that meets the definition of “political committee” must file a statement of 

organization with the Commission, comply with certain organizational and recordkeeping 

requirements, and file periodic disclosure reports of receipts and disbursements.37  

23. The disclosure reports required by FECA must disclose to the Commission and the 

public, including complainants, specific information regarding such committee’s 

financial activities, including the identity of any donor who has contributed more than 

 
33  479 U.S. 238, 262 (1986). 
34  Id. 
35  540 U.S. 93, 170 n.64 (2003). 
36  See Supplemental Explanation and Justification on Political Committee Status, 72 Fed. Reg. 5595, 5597 (Feb. 7, 
2007), https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2007-02-07/pdf/E7-1936.pdf [hereinafter, “PC Status E&J”]. 
37  52 U.S.C. §§ 30102, 30103(a), 30104(a); see also 11 C.F.R. §§ 102.1(d), 102.9, 104.1(a). 
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$200 to the committee within the calendar year.38 Courts have repeatedly recognized the 

importance of campaign finance disclosure to informing the electorate.39  

Statutory Test 

24. As stated above, an organization may meet the statutory threshold for political-committee 

status by either accepting or making sufficient “contributions” or “expenditures.”40 Under 

FECA, the term “expenditure” includes any “gift of money or anything of value [ ] made 

by any person for the purpose of influencing any election for Federal office.”41 As such, 

any group that spends more than $1,000 in a calendar year “for the purpose of 

influencing” a federal election has satisfied the statutory test. 

25. Nearly 20 years ago, the FEC adopted an overly narrow interpretation of the political-

committee status test based on its erroneous reliance on language from a portion of the 

Buckley decision unrelated to the political-committee status test.42 In particular, the FEC 

limited its reading of the term “expenditure” in the context of determining political 

committee status to spending on “express advocacy”—i.e., communications that “urge 

the election or defeat of one or more clearly identified candidate(s)” through so-called 

“magic words” and/or their functional equivalent.43 A federal court rejected the agency’s 

interpretation of Buckley, however, stating that “the [Buckley] Court imposed the 

 
38  52 U.S.C. § 30104(b); see also 11 C.F.R. § 104.3. 
39  See, e.g., Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 369 (2010) (“[T]he public has an interest in knowing who is 
speaking about a candidate shortly before an election.”); Stop This Insanity Inc. Emp. Leadership Fund v. FEC, 761 
F.3d 10, 17 (D.C. Cir. 2014); CREW v. FEC, 209 F. Supp. 3d 77, 81 (D.D.C. 2016) (“[D]isclosure ‘open[s] the basic 
process of our federal election[s] to public view,’ . . . by ‘provid[ing] the electorate with information’ concerning the 
sources and outlets for campaign money” (internal citations omitted)).  
40  See 52 U.S.C. § 30101(4)(A); see also 11 C.F.R. § 100.5(a). 
41  52 U.S.C. § 30101(9)(A)(i); see also 11 C.F.R. § 100.111(a). 
42  See PC Status E&J at 5597. 
43  See 11 C.F.R. § 100.22. 



 10 

narrowing gloss of express advocacy on the term ‘expenditure’ only with regard to 

groups other than ‘major purpose groups.”44  

26. The Supreme Court in McConnell reaffirmed the principle that all expenditures by major-

purpose groups—not just those for express advocacy—“‘are, by definition, campaign 

related,’”45 and several federal district court decisions have since followed suit.46 

27. Accordingly, spending by a major-purpose group “for the purpose of influencing any 

election for Federal office” that exceeds $1,000 during a calendar year satisfies the 

statutory test for political committee status.47 

Major Purpose Test 

28. The second prong of the political-committee status test is the major-purpose inquiry, 

which the Commission has explained is a “fact-intensive analysis of a group’s campaign 

activities compared to its activities unrelated to campaigns.”48 In parsing an 

organization’s major purpose, the Commission examines the organization’s relative 

spending on campaign versus non-campaign activities, in addition to factors such as 

statements made to prospective donors, public statements, internal communications, 

 
44  Shays v. FEC, 511 F. Supp. 2d 19, 27 (D.D.C. 2007) (emphasis added). 
45  See McConnell, 540 U.S. at 170 n.64 (quoting Buckley, 424 U.S. at 79) (“[A] general requirement that political 
committees disclose their expenditures raised no vagueness problems because the term ‘political committee’ ‘need 
only encompass organizations that are under the control of a candidate or the major purpose of which is the 
nomination or election of a candidate’ and thus a political committee’s expenditures ‘are, by definition, campaign 
related.’”). 
46  See CREW v. FEC, 164 F. Supp. 3d 113, 116 (D.D.C. 2015) (“FECA provides that any . . . group of persons . . . 
that makes more than $1,000 in ‘expenditures’ for ‘the purpose of influencing any election for Federal office’ during 
a calendar year constitutes a ‘political committee.’ 52 U.S.C. § 30101(4)(A), (8)(A), (9)(A).”); EMILY’s List v. FEC, 
569 F. Supp. 2d 18, 43 (D.D.C. 2008) (“[F]or expenditures made by those other than candidates and political 
committees, the [Buckley] Court applied a narrowing gloss to avoid constitutional concerns, by interpreting the term 
“expenditure” to reach “only funds used for [express advocacy].”), rev’d on other grounds, 581 F.3d 1 (D.C. Cir. 
2009). 
47  See 52 U.S.C. § 30101(9)(A)(i); see also 11 C.F.R. § 100.111(a). 
48  PC Status E&J at 5601. 
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government filings (such as statements on a Form 990 or articles of incorporation), and 

the lifespan of the organization relative to the election cycle.49  

29. Importantly, “electioneering communications presumptively have an election-related 

purpose,”50 and, as such, presumptively count toward an organization’s campaign-related 

spending.51 Indeed, a federal court concluded in 2018 that “to the extent the Commission 

considers an entity’s spending in assessing its major purpose, it must presumptively treat 

spending on electioneering ads as indicating a purpose of nominating or electing a 

candidate.”52 According to the court, while the Commission might “deem an 

extraordinary ‘electioneering communication’ as lacking an election-related purpose . . . 

such an ad [would] be a rare exception.”53 

30. Relatedly, the court stressed that a call to action imploring viewers to contact a 

representative to express their opinion on an issue would not overcome the presumption 

 
49  See id. at 5605. While not determinative of this complaint, a federal court has instructed that the Commission 
cannot determine major purpose by comparing an organization’s lifetime spending on election-related versus non-
election-related activities, because that approach leaves no room to recognize that an organization’s major purpose 
can change over time. See CREW, 209 F. Supp. 3d at 94. 
50  CREW v. FEC, 299 F. Supp. 3d 83, 93 (D.D.C. 2018). 
51  See, e.g., Conciliation Agreement ¶ IV.11, MUR 5754 (MoveOn.org Voter Fund) (relying on funds used for 
advertisements that “opposed” or “criticized” George W. Bush to establish political committee status); Factual & 
Legal Analysis at 2, MUR 5753 (League of Conservation Voters 527) (finding major purpose satisfied where funds 
spent on door-to-door and phone bank express advocacy campaign, and also on advertisements “supporting or 
opposing clearly identified federal candidates, some of which contained express advocacy”); Conciliation 
Agreement ¶ IV.14, MUR 5487 (Progress for America Voter Fund) (concluding that PFA VF had met the major 
purpose test after spending 60% of its funds on communications that “praised George W. Bush’s leadership as 
President and/or criticized Senator Kerry’s ability to provide similar leadership”); see also Stipulation for Entry of 
Consent Judgment ¶ 22, FEC v. Citizens Club for Growth, Inc., Civ. No. 1:05-01851 (Sept. 6, 2007) (entering 
stipulation of Commission and respondent, approved as part of a consent judgment, where organization was treated 
as a political committee because “the vast majority of [the group’s disbursements] were made in connection with 
federal elections, including, but not limited to, funding for candidate research, polling, and advertisements and other 
public communications referencing a clearly identified federal candidate”). 
52  CREW v. FEC, 299 F. Supp. 3d at 93. 
53  Id. at 97 (noting that “Congress has made a judgment that run-of-the-mill electioneering communications have 
the purpose of influencing an election; an ad meeting the statutory definition of an electioneering communication 
generally indicates a purpose of nominating or electing a candidate”). 
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that an electioneering ad has an election-related purpose.54 The court recognized that such 

a rule would allow organizations to hide behind “a reverse ‘magic words’ test” and would 

not genuinely distinguish election advocacy from issue advocacy.55  

CAUSE OF ACTION 

COUNT I: 
CONSERVATIVES NETWORK FAILED TO REGISTER AS A POLITICAL COMMITTEE AND FILE 

DISCLOSURE REPORTS, IN VIOLATION OF 52 U.S.C. §§ 30102, 30103, AND 30104 
 

31. The available information indicates that Conservatives Network satisfied the 

requirements for political committee status in 2022 when it made more than $1,000 in 

expenditures and its major purpose was electing Eric Schmitt to the U.S. Senate. 

Accordingly, as set forth below, there is reason to believe that Conservatives Network 

violated 52 U.S.C. §§ 30102, 30103, and 30104, by failing to organize, register, and 

report as a political committee. 

32. The overall record clearly supports finding reason to believe the “Back the Blue” 

electioneering communication was an “expenditure” for purposes of the statutory test and 

“election related” for purposes of the major purpose test.  

33. “Back the Blue,” as an electioneering communication, presumptively had the purpose of 

influencing a federal election,56 and there is no basis to conclude that the ad is the “rare 

exception” that overcomes that presumption.57  

 
54  Id. at 99. 
55  Id. 
56  See id. at 93. 
57  See id. at 97. 
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34. The content of the ad—Schmitt’s explicit support of police officers, and police officers’ 

explicit support of Schmitt—sought to bolster Schmitt’s electoral odds, not to influence 

any live policy issue.58  

35. The ad’s focus on the imminent election is evident from the audio and visuals. The 

discussion of Schmitt’s pro-police policies (which is vague to begin with) is couched in 

rhetoric about how police officers feel about Schmitt. The ad states, “[L]aw enforcement 

backs the policies of the Attorney General’s Office under Eric Schmitt. Missouri police 

officers say they can count on Eric Schmitt.”59 The ad thus reads as an endorsement of 

Schmitt’s candidacy by Missouri’s police force—and indeed, it includes footage from the 

Missouri Fraternal Order of Police endorsing Schmitt for Senate, quotes two of the 

organization’s officers about the endorsement, and showcases footage of Schmitt walking 

with and shaking hands with police officers.60 The ad thus serves to highlight what was 

described as a “key” endorsement in the Senate race,61 not persuade Schmitt to continue 

any particular policy. 

36. The ad’s one-time use of the word “policies” and its closing exhortation—“Call Attorney 

General Eric Schmitt. Tell him to keep backing the blue and protecting you”—are fig 

leaves.62 While the ad opens by stating that “law enforcement is under attack” and that 

“some want to defund our police,” the ad makes no mention of any specific, live policy 

that Schmitt, as a state attorney general, could continue or influence.63 Instead, it relies on 

 
58  See Advertisement for Eric Schmitt for Senate 2022, supra note 20. 
59  Id. 
60  Id.; see also supra ¶ 13. 
61  See supra ¶ 6. 
62  See Advertisement for Eric Schmitt for Senate 2022, supra note 20. 
63  See id. To the extent “defunding” the police was a live issue in 2022, it was not one Schmitt, as Attorney General, 
could control. The Missouri Attorney General does not have power over the state’s or any locality’s police budget. 
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generic platitudes designed to play up Schmitt’s pro-law enforcement bona fides, e.g., 

“Attorney General Eric Schmitt always backs law enforcement.”64 As a court has 

recognized, sprinkling policy-sounding words or calls to action over an ad that is 

otherwise obviously meant to influence an election does not transform the ad into pure 

issue speech.65  

37. In sum, Conservatives Network ran an ad that bolstered one of Schmitt’s primary 

campaign themes—his staunch support for law enforcement—and helped reinforce the 

narrative that Schmitt is a true conservative worthy of the Republican base’s support.66 

From every angle, Conservatives Network’s ad is a “run-of-the-mill electioneering 

communications [with] the purpose of influencing an election.”67  

38. Additional facts about Conservatives Network’s formation, spending pattern, and 

leadership also bear on the major-purpose test and further indicate that Conservatives 

Network’s major—if not sole—purpose was electing Schmitt. 

39. Conservatives Network was organized in May 2022, in the middle of Schmitt’s heavily 

contested primary election.68 It spent almost all of its money in the week before the 

primary, and then it virtually ceased operations, spending very little in 2023 and almost 

nothing in 2024, before seeking to terminate in 2025.69 Its activity is thus akin to a “pop 

up” super PAC designed to spend large sums of money on electoral ads right before an 

 
See Office of the Att’y Gen., Mo.gov, https://www.mo.gov/government/guide-to-missouris-government/office-of-
the-attorney-general/ (last visited Dec. 17, 2025). 
64  Advertisement for Eric Schmitt for Senate 2022, supra note 20. 
65  See CREW, 209 F. Supp. 3d at 99. 
66  See supra ¶ 6. 
67  See CREW, 209 F. Supp. 3d at 97. 
68  Nonprofit Corporation Details: Conservatives Network, MO Sec’y of State, supra note 10. 
69  See supra ¶¶ 14-17. 
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election without disclosing the sources of that spending until after the election,70 which 

plainly suggests that Conservatives Network’s sole purpose was supporting Schmitt’s 

candidacy for the U.S. Senate at a pivotal moment in the 2022 election cycle.71 

40. Conservatives Network’s treasurer, Andrew Dziedzic, was also one of Schmitt’s long-

tenured political staffers. Dziedzic worked for Schmitt at least as far back as 2016, when 

Schmitt was elected state treasurer, and then continued working for him in the state 

Attorney General’s office; he then joined Schmitt’s incoming Senate staff in 2023 as 

legislative director.72 The fact that Conservatives Network installed a longtime Schmitt 

staffer in a leadership position further indicates that the organization’s major purpose was 

electing Schmitt, not supporting law enforcement, and that its spending on an 

electioneering communication served that purpose rather than advancing any policy 

issue.  

41. Finally, Conservatives Network ran “Back the Blue” just seven days before Schmitt’s 

highly competitive primary election, on the same day that Schmitt started his final 

campaign tour through the state to make his closing arguments about why he should be 

Missouri’s next U.S. Senator.73 As such, the ad’s timing closely aligned with the 2022 

primary election; it was certainly not an ad run at the margins of the electioneering 

period. This temporal connection between the ad, the election, and Schmitt’s well-

publicized campaign plans underscores Conservatives Network’s electoral purpose.  

 
70 See Carolyn Daly, “Pop-up” Super PACs Game the System to Leave Voters in the Dark, Campaign Legal Center 
(June 4, 2024), https://campaignlegal.org/update/pop-super-pacs-game-system-leave-voters-dark; Saurav Ghosh, 
Secret Spending Keeps Popping Up in Our Elections, Campaign Legal Center (Oct. 26, 2022), 
https://campaignlegal.org/update/secret-spending-keeps-popping-our-elections.   
71  See PC Status E&J at 5601. 
72  See supra ¶ 8. 
73  See supra ¶¶ 9-10. 
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42. Conservatives Network’s $609,780 in spending on the advertisement and the surrounding 

facts thus satisfy both the statutory and major-purpose prongs of the political-committee 

status test: The ad’s purpose was electing Schmitt, the ad resulted in an expenditure 

vastly in excess of the $1,000 statutory threshold, the group’s spending on the ad (98% or 

94% of its overall spending, depending on the denominator) comprised virtually all of its 

activity, and the organization’s lifespan and leadership indicate that Conservatives 

Network existed to support Schmitt’s Senate campaign.74   

43. Because Conservatives Network never registered or organized as a political committee, 

and failed to file any periodic disclosure reports with the FEC, despite meeting the legal 

definition of a “political committee,” there is reason to believe it violated 52 U.S.C. 

§§ 30102, 30103, and 30104. It thereby denied the public, including complainants, of 

statutorily required information about the sources and recipients of its election spending.  

 
74  See supra ¶¶ 7-8, 12-18. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

44. Wherefore, the Commission should find reason to believe that Conservatives Network 

has violated 52 U.S.C. § 30101 et seq., and conduct an immediate investigation under 

52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(2). 

45. Further, the Commission should seek appropriate sanctions for any and all violations, 

including civil penalties sufficient to deter future violations and an injunction prohibiting 

the respondents from any and all violations in the future, and should seek such additional 

remedies as are necessary and appropriate to ensure compliance with FECA.  

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
  /s/ Saurav Ghosh       /s/ Roger G. Wieand   
Campaign Legal Center, by    Roger G. Wieand 
Saurav Ghosh, Esq.     1101 14th Street NW, Suite 400 
1101 14th Street NW, Suite 400   Washington, DC 20005 
Washington, DC 20005    (202) 736-2200 
(202) 736-2200 
 
Saurav Ghosh, Esq. 
Campaign Legal Center 
1101 14th Street NW, Suite 400 
Washington, DC 20005 
Counsel to the Campaign Legal Center, 
Roger G. Wieand 
 
January 7, 2026 
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VERIFICATION 
 

The complainants listed below hereby verify that the statements made in the attached 

Complaint are, upon their information and belief, true.  

Sworn pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1001.  

For Complainant Roger G. Wieand 

 

 

____________________ 

Roger G. Wieand 

 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this ___ day of January 2026.  

 

___________________ 

Notary Public 

 

 
  

7th

State of Texas

County of Tarrant

State of Texas

Shannon Johnson

Electronically signed and notarized online using the Proof platform.
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VERIFICATION 
 

The complainants listed below hereby verify that the statements made in the attached 

Complaint are, upon their information and belief, true.  

Sworn pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1001.  

 

For Complainant Campaign Legal Center 

 

 

____________________ 

Saurav Ghosh, Esq. 

 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this ___ day of January 2026.  

 

___________________ 

Notary Public 

 

 

    

 

7th

Electronically signed and notarized online using the Proof platform.

Texas State, Williamson County
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